



### **BEYOND CONSULTATION**

CIVIL SOCIETY AND THE GOVERNANCE OF INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS

**David Gartner** 



**David Gartner** is an associate professor of law at Arizona State University and a nonresident fellow at Brookings.

### **CONTENTS**

Executive Summary	
Introduction	2
History	5
Post-World War I Institutions	
Post-World War II Institutions	6
Reforms in the 1990s	7
21st Century Institutions	10
Evaluating Civil Society Participation	12
Legitimacy and accountability	12
Representation	13
Deliberation	
Impact	15
Structuring Civil Society Participation In Governance	16
Conclusion	19
References	20
Endnotes	

### **BEYOND CONSULTATION**

# CIVIL SOCIETY AND THE GOVERNANCE OF INTERNATIONAL INSTITUTIONS

**David Gartner** 

### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

n the face of unprecedented global challenges, effective global cooperation increasingly requires a partnership between state and non-state actors. Many international institutions now involve non-state actors in arenas that were once the exclusive province of states. The paper analyzes the evolution of civil society participation in the governance of international institutions and highlights the shift from a model based on consultation toward a model of multistakeholder governance. The paper argues that consultation is a less effective approach to involving civil society in achieving the mission of these institutions and suggests that more robust forms of multi-stakeholder participation by civil society can foster greater accountability and better deliberation. It analyzes competing claims about the desirability of including civil society in the governance of international institutions and suggests that an emerging constituency model can promote more effective multi-stakeholder

governance. Constituency structures are already central features of several global health institutions and are now being contemplated by institutions in other sectors, including by the Education for All–Fast Track Initiative.

Multi-stakeholder approaches to governance are likely to become more widespread in the years to come in order to harness the contributions of a plethora of private actors engaged in responding to a wide range of global challenges. Even with enhanced cooperation between states, it is increasingly clear that non-state actors are essential to responding to key challenges across a wide range of sectors. Although it is possible to imagine expanded cooperation between state and non-state actors without opening up the governance structures of international institutions, it is less likely that these institutions will be successful in the longrun without a shift toward greater multi-stakeholder involvement in the institutions themselves.

### INTRODUCTION

n the face of unprecedented global challenges, effective global cooperation increasingly requires a partnership between state and non-state actors. While the relationship between many of the most important international institutions and civil society groups has traditionally been in the past either adversarial or arms-length, a number of institutions created in the last decade reflect a multi-stakeholder partnership approach to the governance of international institutions. Civil society groups are among a range of non-state actors, which do not represent the government of a nation-state, that are now centrally involved in the formal governance of diverse institutions and are transforming the nature of the debate around many key global challenges.

As the scope of involvement of non-state actors expands within international institutions, there is significant debate over the desirability of civil society participation in the formal governance of these institutions. A number of scholars challenge the idea that civil society should meaningfully participate at all in international institutions and argue that it reflects a flawed attempt by an insufficiently representative civil society and by incompetent international institutions to generate legitimacy for each other. The legitimacy of civil society stakeholder involvement is challenged not only on the basis of their alleged lack of representativeness but also reflects a rejection by some scholars of the idea that non-state actors offer any unique normative contribution to deliberations within international institutions.2 On the other side, scholars have challenged the notion that civil society participation in governance can be anything other than a process of co-optation at the international level through which states shape the views and behaviors of non-state actors.3

If some of the critics of civil society participation in the governance of international institutions seem to ask too much by holding civil society to standards that many governments and most international institutions would not meet, its defenders often ask too little of these arrangements. Among defenders of civil society participation, mere consultation with non-governmental organizations and observer status for civil society without full membership in multi-stakeholder governance is sometimes heralded as transformative of the way institutions function.<sup>4</sup>

Civil society participation in the governance of international institutions is one important mechanism for overcoming the barriers to include voices and perspectives beyond those of government officials into the deliberations around the response to key global challenges. Since a strong and engaged civil society has been found to improve the delivery of public services, it is not surprising that more participatory approaches to service delivery often yield substantial improvements.<sup>5</sup>

Much of the literature highlighting multi-stakeholder models of governance within international institutions has focused on 20th century institutions rather than innovations by 21st century institutions. There has been relatively little work on this new wave of institutions established in the last decade in sectors such as global health, education and agricultural development, which have introduced new approaches to governance. This new generation of institutions offers potentially valuable models of multi-stakeholder governance to apply across different sectors. In contrast, the older generation has not yet demonstrated a capacity for transformation into institutions which are fundamentally more than inter-governmental bodies. Despite recent shifts toward greater consultation with

civil society at the United Nations and in the Bretton Woods Institutions, these changes also reflect the limited capacity of an older generation of institutions to fully embrace newer models of governance.

This paper seeks to assess recent innovations in multi-stakeholder governance within international institutions by analyzing the evolution of civil society participation in a range of international institutions. It attempts to reconcile competing arguments about the desirability of including civil society in formal governance mechanisms by highlighting innovative approaches to structuring participation that can respond to concerns regarding the potential downside of including non-state actors as full partners in the governance of international institutions. It highlights that a new model of participation is emerging which significantly goes beyond the consultation approach of 20th century institutions and utilizes a constituency model to foster broader participation across sectors.

The next section examines the history and evolution of civil society participation in international institutions beginning with the moment of institution-building after World War I, through the founding of the United Nations and Bretton Woods Institutions after World War II, to efforts at reforms of existing institutions in the 1990s, and finally the creation of a new generation of institutions over the last decade. Although the founding of the International Labor Organization over 90 years ago initiated the experiment with multistakeholder governance in international institutions, the leading institutions founded after World War II abandoned this approach in favor of inter-governmental structures with limited consultation with non-state actors. Despite the involvement of NGOs in the founding of the U.N., which the U.S. secretary of state at the time heralded as an "innovation in the conduct of international affairs," it would take more than 50 years before the multi-stakeholder model of governance of international institutions was revived.<sup>7</sup>

The next section examines some of the leading arguments around the desirability of including civil society in the governance of international institutions. The potential advantages of civil society participation in governance, in terms of enhanced deliberation or more effective implementation are contrasted with concerns that such participation fosters a lack of accountability, inhibits consensus, or inevitably leads to a co-optation of once independent voices. Following this section, the paper focuses on how to reconcile some of these competing arguments and highlights the features of governance structures that make them more likely to successfully incorporate civil society actors in decision-making processes.

The last section offers recommendations for structuring civil society participation in response to various critiques of including non-state actors in the governance of international institutions. The section argues that consultative models of NGO participation are limited in their capacity to foster more effective institutions, and suggests instead that multi-stake-holder approaches are a more promising pathway for incorporating diverse voices in the governance of international institutions. It emphasizes the benefits of constituency models of governance to foster enhanced accountability and improved deliberation within these institutions.

Non-state actors are increasingly central players in global debates, yet their formal role remains on the sidelines in the current governance structure of many leading international institutions. In many areas, international institutions may be less likely to be suc-

cessful in the long-run without a shift toward greater multi-stakeholder involvement in the institutions themselves. Expanded participation can lead to more effective deliberation and better implementation of programs in areas such as development when structured in the right way. Constituency models of participation offer a pathway to harness the contribution of civil society.

### **HISTORY**

### Post-World War I Institutions

he modern era of international institution-building began in earnest after World War I with former President Woodrow Wilson's Fourteen Points and the creation of the League of Nations. Wilson's vision reflected a commitment to expanded democracy in order that "every voice can be heard, every voice can have its effect, every voice can contribute to the general judgment that is finally arrived at."8 The failure of the League of Nations to prevent World War II generally overshadows the legacy of other post-World War I institutions, such as the International Labor Organization (ILO) and its multi-stakeholder approach to global governance. The ILO was the first international institution to endorse the participation of civil society as full partners within the governance structure of an international institution. Its founding represented the first time in history that international cooperation was organized with some reference other than the national interest of states. Some scholars have gone so far as to suggest that the founding of the ILO reflects a "global constitutional moment" in the organization of international institutions.9 Yet. others have argued that its unprecedented structure was actually the product of a unique historical moment and the labor tensions of the era after World War I: "it is highly unlikely that states would have created a multilateral labor standards organization that includes workers and employers as full-fledged members at any period other than immediately following World War I."10

The structure of governance of the ILO was unique both at the time of its founding and throughout most of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Its tripartite governance structure includes representatives of organized labor and employers as equals alongside government representatives. Although these employer- and worker-representatives each come from one of the organization's 178 member states, they attend the annual ILO Conference and meetings of its governing body as independent representatives rather than representative of their country of origin.<sup>11</sup>

Although the representatives are selected by governments, they are required to be selected from the organizations "which are most representative of employers or workpeople, as the case may be, in their respective countries."12 Governments have a 2:1:1 ratio of representation with the worker and employer representatives on the governing body and there is equal representation between these stakeholders on many of the key committees. An early challenge to the appointment of worker representatives by the government of the Netherlands led to a decision by the Permanent Court of International Justice that the selection of labor delegates by governments were reviewable by the ILO Conference, which could refuse to admit a particular delegate if the selection violated ILO rules.13

As with labor, early efforts to promote international cooperation in education also reflected a commitment to include the diverse voices of non-state actors. The International Bureau of Education (IBE), established in 1929, represented the most significant attempt by governments up to that time to collaborate in the education sector. The membership and council of the IBE included non-governmental organizations as well as government representatives. The IBE was ultimately merged into UNESCO in 1947 after the founding of the United Nations and subsequently adopted a council consisting of 21 member states.<sup>14</sup>

UNESCO's first draft governing document in 1944 provided for inclusion of educators in addition to states

but this vision did not make it into the final version.<sup>15</sup> The question of whether UNESCO should be an inter-governmental or a non-governmental body was a point of controversy based on concerns of protecting cultural, scientific and educational issues from political interference. The French proposed an organization with a tripartite structure including representatives from governments, national committees of UNESCO and civil society in order to include leading intellectuals from member states.<sup>16</sup> Instead, the proposal for full NGO membership was rejected and UNESCO's existing membership decided on a board with representatives from 30 countries.<sup>17</sup>

UNESCO's constitution did include provisions for consultation with NGOs: "The United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization may make suitable arrangements for consultation and co-operation with non-governmental organizations concerned with matters within its competence... Such co-operation may also include appropriate participation by representatives of such organizations on advisory committees set up by the General Conference." Although the UNESCO Constitution incorporated the idea of consultation with non-state actors, it firmly rejected the earlier models of multi-stakeholder participation in education governance.

#### Post-World War II Institutions

Despite the extensive involvement of civil society organizations in the founding conference of the United Nations after World War II, non-state actors were given a much smaller role in the United Nations than was the case with some of the institutions established after World War I. In 1945, representatives from as many as 42 NGOs were invited to serve as advisers to the official U.S. delegation at the founding confer-

ence of the U.N.<sup>19</sup> In total, 1,200 voluntary associations were present at the founding of the United Nations.<sup>20</sup> Nonetheless, the United Nations charter initially had no provisions for any form of formal consultation with civil society groups.

Only after aggressive lobbying by the World Federation of Trade Unions was Article 71 incorporated into the charter providing that: "The Economic and Social Council may make suitable arrangements for consultation with non-governmental organizations which are concerned with matters within it competence."21 Interestingly, one of the leading proponents of including language on NGOs was James Shotwell, the president emeritus of the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, who was a leading scholar of the ILO with its model of multi-stakeholder governance. The Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) defined NGOs as "any international organization which is not established by intergovernmental agreement" and only admitted national NGOs to consultative status with the permission of their home government.<sup>22</sup>

Although ECOSOC became a primary locus for consultations with NGOs by the United Nations, it was explicitly not envisioned that civil society groups would be participants, even as observers: "a clear distinction is drawn in the charter of the United Nations between participation without vote in the deliberations of the council and the arrangements for consultation." Even those members of governance structures who served as observers were permitted to speak and participate in deliberations as part of decision-making. Non-state actors, on the other hand, might be consulted but did not have a formal role in the governance of the United Nations, and were not in a position to formally negotiate with governments on urgent matters before the inter-governmental body.

As with the United Nations, the Bretton Woods Institutions opted for a governance model that was limited only to states. The original governance structure of both the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund consisted exclusively of weighted state representation based on a quota system that was meant to reflect each country's share of the global economy.<sup>24</sup> The proposed International Trade Organization (ITO) explicitly provided for engagement with non-state actors but was never approved by the United States Congress. The original plan for the ITO would have allowed NGOs to receive key documents, propose agenda items and also speak at conferences with the votes of a supermajority of member states required to exclude them from participation.<sup>25</sup>

### Reforms in the 1990s

In the last decade of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, interest in expanding at least the consultative role of non-state actors grew within the United Nations and the Bretton Woods Institutions. Before 1981, there was no formal mechanism for the World Bank to consult with non-governmental organizations. In 1981, the bank developed Operational Policy Note (10.05), which outlined potential benefits from more direct engagement with civil society groups and suggested the possible involvement of NGOs in project identification, design, financing, implementation and evaluation of projects. In 1989, the bank adopted another operational directive (14.7) that outlined procedures for consulting with NGOs on specific bank projects at different stages of development. <sup>26</sup>

The World Bank formed a bank-NGO committee in 1981 to engage 15 NGO leaders on broader questions beyond specific projects; but only in the 1990s did the World Bank take a much more active role in soliciting broader civil society feedback on its work.<sup>27</sup> The shift

was catalyzed partly by the findings of the independent Morse Commission, appointed by the World Bank president, which recommended the creation of an independent body to respond to complaints by citizens and civil society groups in countries where bank projects operate.<sup>28</sup> As a result of the commission, there was growing interest in the United States Congress in new mechanisms of consultation and accountability such as an independent inspection panel.<sup>29</sup>

In 1993, the U.S. Congress linked its contribution to the replenishment of the bank's International Development Association funds to the creation of an independent inspection panel.<sup>30</sup> In 1994, the World Bank established the Inspection Panel and endorsed an innovative report of the Participatory Development Learning Group. One of the key findings of the learning group was that: "There is significant evidence that participation can in many circumstances improve the quality, effectiveness, and sustainability of projects, and strengthen ownership and commitment of government and stakeholders." The report proved to be a precursor to subsequent expansion of the bank's consultative processes with NGOs.

In 1995, the bank-NGO Committee created six regional bodies; and, in 1997, the Bank created civil society liaison staff at all of its 72 resident missions around the world. Starting in 1998, non-governmental groups were involved in the official review of the Heavily Indebted Poor Country debt cancellation initiative. In 1999, the bank introduced a broad consultative exercise through its headquarters that was designed to extend civil society engagement with the formulation of its poverty reduction strategies.<sup>32</sup>

Despite these steps toward greater openness to civil society voices, it remains extremely rare that highlevel policy decisions by the World Bank board are

opened up for civil society comment and there still is no significant civil society participation in its formal governance. Civil society input remains just discretionary and the central debate over governance reform within the World Bank remains focused on the shares of votes between different state actors. As one analyst put it, consultation is not necessarily the same thing as participation in governance: "Consultation is seen as a proxy for participation . . . [p]articipation thus conceived is restricted to consultation by request."<sup>33</sup>

Over time, the role of NGOs within the United Nations system grew with the increase of major U.N. conferences.

At the United Nations, ECOSOC remained the central body with which non-state actors could engage, if not fully participate. Over time, the role of NGOs within the United Nations system grew with the increase of major U.N. conferences, such as the U.N. Conference on the Human Environment and subsequent major conferences on the environment.34 Since the 1970s, NGOs were allowed to participate formally in special sessions on development and other issues.35 Although initially NGOs had fewer rights to participate in conferences than in ECOSOC, by the 1980s these groups had better political status and opportunities to participate in the context of conferences than ECOSOC.<sup>36</sup> In 1993, in response to the growing role of civil society groups at the 1992 U.N. Conference on Environment and Development, there was an effort within ECOSOC to broaden the consultative status of non-governmental organizations.<sup>37</sup> A more ambitious level of participation by civil society was outlined by the High-Level Panel on U.N.-Civil Society Relations led by former Brazilian President Cardoso in its 1994 report: "We the Peoples: Civil Society, the United Nations, and Global

Governance." The report called for the managed inclusion of civil society groups in the processes of the general assembly and also for expanded engagement with the security council.

In order to implement these recommendations, in 1996, an ECOSOC resolution called on the general assembly to establish mechanisms for participation by NGOs in "all areas of the work of the U.N."38 Yet, there was substantial resistance by some of the security council members, especially to the idea of allowing the general assembly to examine participation in other organs of the United Nations.<sup>39</sup> As a result, a subgroup of the general assembly working group on reform of the U.N. system, which was established to take up the guestion of NGO access to U.N. proceedings, was unable to reach an agreement on the group's mandate.<sup>40</sup> Today, NGOs still are not in a position to formally negotiate with United Nations member states in decision-making and policy-setting arenas.<sup>41</sup> However, within ECOSOC, certain types of NGOs with particular expertise and special consultative status are now allowed to circulate documents, gain access to preparatory meetings and speak at formal meetings.<sup>42</sup> The resolution that formalized the consultative role of NGOs within ECOSOC also applied to its subsidiary bodies, such as the Commission on Human Rights, the Commission on the Status of Women, and the Commission on Sustainable Development.<sup>43</sup> The backlash to expanded civil society participation reflected the fears by many U.N. delegates of losing influence in decision-making; and by 1998, there was a movement to curtail NGO access to U.N. processes.44

Nevertheless, during this period, a number of specialized U.N. agencies also moved forward with expanded participation for civil society. Established in 1994, UNAIDS (The Joint U.N. Program on HIV/AIDS)

included on its program coordination board representatives of the NGO sector and people living with AIDS. UNAIDS was the first U.N. agency to allow for civil society representation on its governing board. However, these civil society representatives were observers rather than full voting members of the board. At the United Nations Development Programme, a CSO Advisory Committee was established in 2000 to provide ongoing guidance to the leadership of the agency. NGOs that have been granted consultative status are also allowed to attend executive board meetings of the United Nations International Children's Education Fund (UNICEF) and the Governing Council of the United Nations Environment Program.<sup>45</sup> In addition, the role of NGOs was also expanded in the context

of a number of new conventions championed by the U.N. For example, the Convention on the Rights of the Child requires that governments regularly report to the committee overseeing the convention, and its text provided a role for NGOs to offer "expert advice on the implementation of the Convention."<sup>46</sup>

Significantly, these reforms in the U.N. system transformed civil society from from external actors into observers, if not necessarily full participants, in many UN bodies. However, the language of partnership rather than consultation of this period did not translate into NGOs becoming full participants in core structures of the U.N. system.<sup>47</sup>

### 21<sup>ST</sup> CENTURY INSTITUTIONS

arly in the 21st century, a new wave of international institutions re-introduced the multi-stake-holder model of governance that was pioneered after World War I. Many of the innovative institutions that adopted a more robust role for civil society in governance were focused on development issues, such as global health. In most cases, these institutions involved civil society in the formal governance structure of the institution and went beyond the consultation model that was developed in the context of the United Nations and the World Bank.

Launched in 2000, the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization (GAVI) is somewhat unique in the significant role that it gives to non-state actors including partner foundations, the private sector and technical experts. The GAVI Alliance Board sets overall policies and monitors programs. The Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation holds one of four "renewable" seats on the GAVI Alliance Board. In addition, there are several other seats for non-state actors among the 12 rotating seats on the board. Of these, one is designated for civil society groups while the others are allocated to research and technical health institutes, the developing country vaccine industry and the industrialized country vaccine industry.<sup>48</sup> In 2005, the GAVI Alliance Board determined that it needed to strengthen the participation of civil society constituencies in its governance and programs and allocated expanded resources to enhance civil society representation at the country level. In 2010, the GAVI Partners forum created the GAVI Alliance Civil Society Constituency, a group of civil society representatives to support members of GAVI's governance bodies.<sup>49</sup> In addition, in 2010, GAVI also created the position of a communications focal point for the civil society constituency in order to support wider participation and improved communication within that constituency.

The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria goes further than the GAVI model in terms of broadening multi-stakeholder participation in its governance structure. The Global Fund provides for a wider representation of civil society groups and a greater role in its governance structure for developing country governments. In addition to civil society representation from the global North and South, the Global Fund also includes the most directly affected communities of people living with AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria on its board.<sup>50</sup> In the case of all of these civil society representatives, a communications focal point plays a key role in organizing the constituency and facilitating a selection process for the board member, the alternate board member, and the wider delegation for meetings of the board. The nominations for the board member for the affected communities delegation is conducted through an open call for applicants based on candidates capacity to commit their time and participate in the work of the board.<sup>51</sup>

Civil society participation in the Global Fund's board contributed to the adoption of enhanced transparency, through the Global Fund Documents Policy, and also the adoption of the requirement for a formal independent evaluation of the fund.<sup>52</sup> In addition, civil society involvement on the board has contributed to substantially revising the guidelines for ensuring effective multi-stakeholder involvement in country-level processes, proposals and program implementation.<sup>53</sup>

Instead of having a single representative from a given foundation or civil society group, the constituency model of the Global Fund established a full-fledged delegation designed to reflect greater diversity within each sector. In addition, its governance structure established a donor bloc, including foundations and the private sector, and a recipient bloc, including civil society and recipient countries. Major decisions of the

Global Fund are usually based on consensus. However, in the absence of consensus, concurring majorities are required such that both the donor bloc and the recipient bloc must demonstrate two-thirds support of those present in order to approve a controversial decision. Civil society also plays a unique leadership role on the board since the roles of chair and vice-chair are distributed and alternate between stakeholders from the donor and recipient blocs.<sup>54</sup> Civil society representatives have in the past served as the vice-chair of entire board of the Global Fund but have not yet served as chair.

In the education sector, the Education for All-Fast Track Initiative (FTI) established in 2002, has evolved from an entity formally guided by an annual partnership meeting, to a unified multi-stakeholder structure of board governance. The original framework for the Education for All - Fast Track Initiative established that it was to be governed by an FTI partnership meeting, which was charged with setting the strategic policy direction. The partnership meeting included donors, FTI recipient countries, non-governmental organizations and U.N. agencies. The founding membership of the FTI steering committee, established in 2004, consisted almost entirely of donors: two cochairs from a G8 and non-G8 country, the most recent outgoing donor co-chair, the World Bank and UNESCO. Subsequently, the steering committee was expanded to broaden its representation of other stakeholder groups, ultimately including three representatives from civil society and three representatives from developing country partner countries.55

In 2009, after much deliberation, the FTI governance structure shifted to a formal board of directors but the composition again became more heavily weighted toward the donors with less civil society participation. In 2010, as part of a broader reform process, the FTI

board took a decision to transform its governance structure, by including an equal number of developing country seats as donor seats on the board and expanding the number of civil society seats on the board. The FTI unified control over its trust funds under the board, eliminating exclusively donor governance of its core resources.<sup>56</sup>

In the agricultural sector, the recently created Global Agriculture and Food Security Program (GAFSP) also reflects civil society involvement directly in governance. The steering committee of the GAFSP includes the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation as one of five voting members among contributors to the GAFSP trust fund along with governments. In addition, the GAFSP includes three non-voting civil society representatives as participants in the steering committee with the same status as representatives from other multilateral institutions. The civil society seats are specifically allocated with two set aside for Southern NGO representation from different regions and one seat provided for Northern NGO representation, from a country that is a member of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).57

An emerging 21st century model of civil society participation in the governance of international institutions reflects a shift away from mere consultation and toward full membership in formal governance structures. Pioneered in the field of global health, similar models have since been translated into other sectors including education and agriculture. What unites these diverse institutions is the commitment to multi-stakeholder governance despite the fact that most 20th century international institutions remain inter-governmental bodies with a limited role for civil society outside of consultative processes.

# EVALUATING CIVIL SOCIETY PARTICIPATION

### Legitimacy and accountability

challenges to their legitimacy as an increasingly diverse range of actors become engaged in the sectors in which these institutions are focused and democratic norms become more strongly embedded internationally. According to Robert Keohane and Joseph Nye, the older "club" model of global governance is increasingly being challenged because of its lack of transparency to outsiders and the limited participation it provides outside of officials from a relatively small group of countries. They conclude that "any sustainable pattern of governance will have to institutionalize channels of contact between international organizations and constituencies within civil society." 59

Civil society groups often have great credibility in key areas in which international institutions work. According to surveys of public trust looking at the period since 2000, non-governmental organizations perform better than governments, business and the media in providing credible information on environment, health and human rights. 60 Many inter-governmental organizations are facing sustained criticism for a lack of accountability and responsiveness in their governance. 61 The legitimacy of the objectives and norms put forward by international institutions are often linked to the perceived legitimacy of the institution and its governance structures. For example, the tripartite structure of the ILO is viewed as a key reason why international labor standards are more likely to be accepted as legitimate in many countries.<sup>62</sup>

At the same time, there are concerns in some areas that civil society groups themselves may not be sufficiently accountable. Given that many non-state actors are not directly accountable through elections, it is reasonable to ask by what mechanism they are held accountable at all. Some commentators suggest that there should be more universal standards for transparency and for integrity for non-governmental organizations.63 Still others argue that a better approach is to encourage NGOs to be accountable to their own constituencies, something that can be encouraged through the process of becoming repeat players within the governance of international institutions.<sup>64</sup> As Robert Keohane points out, NGOs are particularly vulnerable to threats to their reputations since they are otherwise pretty weak actors who rely on their credibility, which serves as a powerful accountability mechanism.65 It is very likely that most non-state actors will behave differently as members of a governing board than then they would as external critics.

A different critique of civil society participation in governance is the concern that Northern groups would dominate Southern groups in these global forums.66 Indeed, this balance between North and South is already a challenge within many international institutions. It is less clear that excluding civil society altogether from formal governance helps to solve this underlying problem as it very likely leaves Southern NGOs with less voice than even an imperfect governance structure that includes civil society would. Nonetheless, the issue of incorporating Southern voices is important in evaluating the extent to which expanded civil society participation truly gives voice to a diverse set of global stakeholders. The core challenge is to find ways to structure voice in order to "combat rather than accentuate existing . . . inequalities."67 New models of constituency-based participation by Northern and Southern NGOs, which will be examined in the next section, offer one potential response to these legitimate concerns about the nature of civil society participation within international institutions.

Work on the legitimacy of international institutions has highlighted both "input legitimacy," or democratic accountability, and also "output legitimacy," or successful problem-solving.68 Rules promoting transparency and public participation in international institutions can be seen as promoting democratic accountability, or procedural legitimacy.<sup>69</sup> However, the extent of this legitimacy depends not only on the representativeness of the non-state actors but also on the scope of actual decision-making, rather than mere consultation, provided to these actors.70 One important dimension of accountability which is enhanced by the participation of civil society within international organizations is transparency. In fact, NGO participation was found to be a significant predictor or organizational transparency in a recent study across 72 international organizations.71

### Representation

The most consistent and, in some ways, the most powerful argument against civil society representation in the governance of international institutions is that non-state actors are not representative in the traditional sense because they are not elected to serve as representatives. The most basic version of this argument is the question of "who elected the NGOs?" In the first instance, it is clear that most NGO leaders are not elected and even those who are elected can usually claim to formally represent only a relatively small slice of a given population. These concerns about the representativeness of civil society should be exam-

ined against the backdrop of the representational role of other actors within international institutions.

In the case of some countries, the representation by governments within international institutions does not adequately or effectively reflect the views of its citizens. Some states are represented in international institutions by authoritarian governments which are unlikely to adequately reflect the views of the citizens of the country given the lack of effective democratic processes. In the case of many key international institutions, those living in the poorest countries often have relatively little representation by their government in the formal decision-making processes of these institutions. In both of these cases, where a state may be weakly or not at all represented ,or represented by leaders that were not selected by the people, there is a reasonable basis to consider that non-state actors could make a contribution to raising the concerns and views of these underrepresented populations which would not otherwise be possible.

Another critique sometimes offered regarding civil society involvement in the governance of international institutions is that their involvement in governance can undermine the role and weaken the influence of states. In this way, civil society participation could serve to undermine the more directly representative role played by many state actors. On its face, the participation of non-state actors in the governance of international institutions would seem to dilute the monopoly of state actors over shaping the direction of these institutions. Some observers have suggested that incorporating civil society increases the autonomy and independence of these institutions from key state actors.73 Others argue that incorporating NGOs in these institutions challenges the fundamental concept of sovereignty itself.74 However, Kal Raustiala

argues that including NGOs actually strengthens the ability of states to regulate and shape important arenas rather than undercutting the authority of states beyond their borders.<sup>75</sup>

If one of the weaknesses of civil society participation in the eyes of some observers is the independence of non-state actors from the influence of states, a concern on the other side is that their very inclusion in formal governance structures jeopardizes the independence which is so often the comparative advantage of civil society groups. One of the central roles played by civil society groups in relation to international institutions is often as an independent external watchdog of the operations of the institution. As NGOs gain greater influence through formal structures of institutions, such as the U.N., they are increasingly subject to the rules and culture of its bureaucracy.<sup>76</sup> Multi-stakeholder approaches to governance, at their worst, can serve as agents "of cooptation rather than representation."77 In part, this concern simply reflects the imbalance that sometimes exists within multi-stakeholder governance structures and reflects a challenge for the design of innovative governance structures. Unless one takes the view that any engagement with formal structures inevitably undermines the ability of civil society groups to serve as effective watchdogs, it is plausible to view the expanded access to information and the opportunities for direct engagement with state actors as the basis for enhanced influence for independent actors within the governance of international institutions that are structured in ways to reduce the risk of co-optation.

### Deliberation

A number of scholars examining international institutions have argued that including civil society groups in the formal decision-making process of these institutions can lead to more robust deliberation, and thereby contribute to improved decision-making. Looking at the World Trade Organization, Dan Esty suggests in an argument that could easily be generalized to other institutions that: "An NGO-enriched WTO decision process would offer better competition for national governments in the search for optimal policies."78 The expansion of participation in the environmental arena has been seen to provide particular benefits in policy formulation because of the additional expertise of non-state actors. 79 Another line of reasoning is that civil society actors, less constrained by the demands and limitations of shorter-term political bargaining that governments must constantly engage in, can afford to take a longer-term view of important policy questions: NGOs provide competition for public conscience and prod governments to consider broader perspectives and stay focused on pressing transnational issues.80

Civil society can also foster deliberation beyond the boundaries of the boardrooms of international institutions. By communicating with local-stakeholders and shaping global media interest, non-state actors can foster a "'transmission belt' between a global citizenry and the institutions of global governance."81 Civil society groups can transport issues and concerns from local stakeholders that might not otherwise reach relevant international institutions.82 However, there can sometimes be a disjuncture between the ability of civil society to bring new views and arguments to bear and the influence that those arguments have in shaping debates within international institutions. Even so, the incorporation of civil society groups in the governance of international institutions potentially offers the opportunity to expand deliberation beyond the exclusive confines of board meetings to a broader array of stakeholders engaged in policy dialogue than would otherwise be possible.

### **Impact**

Another plausible reason to consider including civil society in the governance of international institutions is the possibility that these groups could enhance the impact of a given institution in implementing its programs and advancing its core goals. In the context of increasingly complex global challenges, the capacity for international institutions to solve problems is likely to become an increasingly important test of their legitimacy. Although this is a difficult question to definitively resolve, there is some evidence strongly suggesting that more participatory approaches can yield better results, particularly in the field of development. A 1998 study of World Bank supported projects found that a majority of projects demonstrated "potential for success because their preparation and early implementation . . . were highly participatory."83 Another study of participatory processes in bankassisted projects completed in 2001 concluded that "participation of primary and secondary stakeholders (including CSOs) increased significantly during the mid-1990s and the resulting benefits have been significant."84 A more recent study by the bank found that civil society consultation in the development of country assistance strategies can improve the overall quality of these strategies.85 Analysis of the World Bank's portfolio performance reports also indicate that NGO involvement can lower the risk of poor performance and suggest that civil society participation can have a significant impact on effectiveness.<sup>86</sup>

Since a strong and engaged civil society has been found to improve the delivery of public services, it is not surprising that more participatory approaches to service delivery often yield substantial improvements.87 Some of the best aid projects that demonstrate a capacity to improve the delivery of services in the public sector involve civil society participation. According to one recent study looking at projects in 49 countries, projects were successful 62 percent of the time when participation was a goal, but only 10 percent were successful when participation was not a goal.88 One of the strongest reasons for the inclusion of civil society groups in the governance of many 21st century international institutions is their potential contribution as catalysts of resources for the institution and its core objectives. Many of the institutions with the highest-level of civil society participation in governance, such as those in the global health arena, have been among the most successful in the last decade in mobilizing an expansion of overall resources.

# STRUCTURING CIVIL SOCIETY PARTICIPATION IN GOVERNANCE

urrent international institutions utilize a broad → range of approaches to fostering civil society participation ranging from limited consultation to full partnership. While most major international institutions now provide for some form of consultation with civil society, this role is sometimes extremely limited. If models of consultation were the dominant approach for most of the 20th century, new models that involve full participation in governance are increasingly common in the 21st century. In this section, the diverse models for civil society participation within existing institutions are briefly assessed in order to identify structural features that can foster more deliberative and effective governance within international institutions. In contrast with the limits of many consultative approaches to civil society participation, there is significant potential in multi-stakeholder approaches that incorporate constituency models as a central feature of civil society participation.

While the World Bank in recent decades has expanded its mechanisms for consultation with both international and national civil society groups, the International Monetary Fund has much more limited formal consultation with civil society participation outside of its joint meetings with the World Bank. In both institutions, however, civil society is neither a participant nor even an observer in the deliberations of the institution's governing board or in most major policy decisions.

Within U.N. institutions there is a wide range of approaches to engagement with civil society. While the Economic and Social Council of the United Nations allows for NGOs to attend meetings and make interventions, most other core U.N. structures do not provide for observer status and have not developed

a robust process of consultation with civil society. At U.N. operational agencies the role for civil society varies, but there is rarely a regular role for civil society in the governing bodies of these agencies. Thus, for the major international institutions created in the 20<sup>th</sup> century there remains a tremendous unevenness in the formal capacity of civil society groups to engage and participate in most current structures of international cooperation.

Models of multi-stakeholder governance still vary a great deal from participation in governing boards without voting rights to equal participation in governance, such as the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. Many governments, some scholars and even some civil society groups traditionally resist the idea of allocating voting status to civil society groups within international institutions. Yet, it is hard to imagine a full partnership in any governing context in which some have voting rights and others do not. There also appear to be inevitable limits to the depth of partnership on the part of governments and the sense of accountability for governance by civil society groups in models in which NGOs serve as observers rather than full participants.

While a number of 21st century institutions allocate just one seat to civil society, even on relatively large boards, an increasing number of institutions now allocate seats both to civil society groups from the global North and South. In addition, some of these institutions designate specific seats for representatives of the communities most directly affected by the work of the institution, as well as representatives from foundations, individual experts and the private sector. The representation of both North and South is significant in the context of concerns that civil society participation in governance simply accentuates the imbalances of representation between different regions of the world.

In institutions such as the Global Fund, civil society representatives are incorporated in a broader bloc with developing countries and other non-donors in order to try to ensure that these voices are given adequate weight in deliberations and decision-making. By creating structures that allow for an independent voice for non-donors, it is often harder for a false consensus to take hold within discussions and decisions. The Global Fund goes a step further to establish concurrent super-majority (two-thirds of each bloc) requirements of support in order to resolve controversial questions. While the concern about such an approach is that it could lead to paralysis, it also has the potential to foster a more genuine consensus by catalyzing the elaboration of different views and bargaining in the shadow of a higher decision threshold in order to reach consensus among those with different points of view.

Models of civil society participation in the governance of international institutions which merely include an individual representative are much weaker at incorporating diverse voices, preventing co-optation and promoting accountability than models of constituency representation. In contrast to a single individual being solely responsible for representing the views of a multifaceted sector, constituency models involve a delegation which jointly makes key policy decisions and which also serves as a forum for learning for future and alternate board members. The degree to which those representing civil society actually encompass the affected population and the existence of accountability mechanisms for leaders are key factors in shaping the contribution of civil society participation.

In the case of the Global Fund and more recently GAVI, the work of the constituency is facilitated by a communications focal point to ensure broad and meaningful participation by various different groups. The delegation serves as a resource and force-multiplier for a single board member as well as a forum for deliberation and a potential check on a board member who is not adequately representing the views of a diverse cross-section of civil society groups. The constituency model can plausibly be applied to international institutions across a range of sectors as a means of involving non-state actors from non-governmental organizations, foundations or the private sector. Within a given constituency it is important not only that the capacity to facilitate and channel broad participation is in place but also that there exists a mechanism for mutual accountability within the delegation.

The Education for All - Fast Track Initiative (FTI) is grappling with how best to structure a constituency model for different populations including the civil society members of its board. The lessons from other multi-stakeholder institutions suggest that it would be valuable to move toward a delegation structure, rather than having individual civil society representatives, in order to create opportunities for a broader range of stakeholders to be involved in board processes. With three civil society seats on the FTI board, it could also be valuable to extend participation beyond Northern and Southern NGO delegations to explicitly include the most directly affected constituencies. The Global Fund includes a seat for those living with the diseases it is focused on and similarly the FTI could include voices from among teachers, parents and students who will most directly be affected by its work.

If constituency models are crucial to promoting accountability and deliberation within civil society delegations that participate in the governance of international institutions, concurrent majority rules can also be important to fostering accountability and deliberation within a broader governing body. Consultation processes allow for the possibility of

input but usually do little to structure an arena for deeper deliberation or serious negotiation between different stakeholders. In contrast, the combination of constituency models of participation with concurrent majority rules can create an environment in which negotiation is necessary, which often increases the likelihood of deeper deliberation among non-state as well as state actors.

While it is possible to incorporate multi-stakeholder approaches to governance within a wide range of international institutions, it is likely that it will be most successful in those which are focused on specific tangible problems. As with efforts at citizen empowerment at the local level, specific tangible problems make it easier to involve non-state actors in delibera-

tion over the solutions to those problems.<sup>89</sup> For this reason, development institutions are particularly fertile ground for innovations with respect to civil society participation in governance since the focus is so often on the delivery of tangible public goods. At the same time, it would seem to lend itself to many environmental challenges despite the fact that consultative models are more prevalent within global environmental institutions. Although the implementation rationale for civil society participation might be less persuasive in the context of institutions which are not either protecting the environment or the provision of public goods, the deliberative benefits of broadened participation would still be relevant even in institutional settings with less of a problem-solving orientation.

### CONCLUSION

he history and evolution of civil society participation in the governance of international institutions reflects both an arc toward more inclusive governance and also the limits of the possibility of reform within many existing institutions. Change does not come easily to most international institutions, especially when it comes to issues of governance. Debates in recent decades over reforming the United Nations are just one example of the substantial gap between the recognition that updating governance structures is needed and the capacity of existing institutions to implement a meaningful vision of change. Similarly, within the Bretton Woods Institutions ongoing debates about reforming the quota structure to better reflect the current distribution of global economic power have so far yielded relatively modest changes in the actual governance structures of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund without any move toward including civil society as full partners in the governance of these institutions.

At the same time, the opportunity for innovation with a new generation of international institutions seems much more open-ended. The most participatory models for including civil society in governance can be seen in institutions that were established in the 21st century. In most cases, despite initial resistance among some countries, an alliance between key donor governments and diverse civil society groups engaged in establishing the institution in the first place made it possible to expand the boundaries of participation. The most successful examples did not merely offer seats to individual representatives also required that

civil society and other members of key governance structures be linked to a delegation and held accountable to broader constituencies to expand the range of voices included in deliberations.

The core challenge to improving the performance of international institutions is that most international institutions are much better at adapting than engaging in meaningful learning processes: "adaptive behavior is common, whereas true learning is rare. The very nature of institutions is such that the dice are loaded in favor of the less demanding behavior associated with adaptation." The experience of the leading international institutions established in the 20th century both strongly suggest that if the design of these institutions is not inclusive from the beginning, the opportunities for transformation of governance within existing institutions may be quite small. If that is the case, the pressure to innovate and establish new multi-stakeholder institutions may continue to grow over time.

It is unlikely that states alone will be able to respond to the greatest challenges of the 21st century. Even with enhanced cooperation between states, it is increasingly clear that non-state actors are essential in order to respond to key challenges across a wide range of sectors. Although it is possible to imagine expanded cooperation between state and non-state actors without opening up the governance structures of international institutions, it is much less likely that many of these institutions will be successful in the long run without a shift toward greater multi-stake-holder involvement in the institutions themselves.

### REFERENCES

- Adams, Barbara, ECOSOC AND NGOs: A Review of the Review, in Civil Society Engaging Multilateral Institutions: At the Crossroads 8 (1999), available at http://www.fimcivilsociety.org/en/library/ FIMForum1999.pdf.
- Alger, Chadwick, The Emerging Roles of NGOs in the UN System: From Article 71 to a People's Millennium Assembly, 8 Global Governance 93 (2002).
- Anderson, Kenneth, Global Governance: The Problematic Legitimacy Relationship between Global Civil Society and the United Nations (American University, WCL Research Paper Series, Paper No. 2008-71, 2008), available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract id=1265839.
- Anderson, Kenneth & Rieff, David, 'Global Civil Society': A Skeptical View, in Global Civil Society 2004/5 (Helmut Anheier et al. eds, 2005).
- Barnett, Michael & Finnemore, Martha, Rules for the World: International Organizations in Global Politics (2004).
- Bartsch, Sonja, *The Global Fund to Fight AIDS*, *Tuberculosis and Malaria*, in Global Health Governance and the Fight Against HIV/AIDS (Wolfgang Hein et al. eds., 2007).
- Bignami, Francesca, Civil Society and International Organizations: A Liberal Framework for Global Governance 62-64 (Duke Law Faculty Scholarship, Paper No. 112, 2007), available at http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=19 33&context=faculty\_scholarship.

- Bodansky, Daniel, The Legitimacy of International Governance: A Coming Challenge for International Environmental Law?, 93 Am. J. Int'l L. 596 (1999).
- Buse, Kent, Education for All Fast Track Initiative: Review of the Governance and Management Structures, Nov. 2005, http://www.hlfhealthmdgs. org/HLF4Tunis/Education%20for%20All%20FTI %20materials/EFAFTIGovernanceEvaluation.pdf.
- Casaburi et al., Gabriel, Multilateral Development Banks, Governments, and Civil Society: Chiaroscuros in a Triangular Relationship, 6 Global Governance 493 (2000).
- Charnovitz, Steve, Accountability of Nongovernmental Organizations in Global Government, in NGO Accountability: Politics, Principles and Innovations 21 (Lisa Jordan & Peter van Tuijl eds., 2006).
- Charnovitz, Steve *The Emergence of Democratic*Participation in Global Governance, 10 Ind. J.

  Global Legal Stud. 45 (2003).
- Charnovitz, Steve, Two Centuries of Participation: NGOs and International Governance, 18 Mich. J.Int'l L. 183 (1997).
- Covey, Jane G., Is Critical Cooperation Possible?
  Influencing the World Bank through Operational
  Collaboration and Policy Dialogue, in The Struggle
  for Accountability: The World Bank, NGOs, and
  Grassroots Movements 81 (Jonathan A. Fox and
  L. David Brown eds., 1998).
- Conference of NGOs in Consultative Relationship with the United Nations, NGO Participation Arrangements at the UN and in other agencies of the UN System, Mar. 2006, http://www.itu.int/ council/groups/stakeholders/Resources/NonPap

- er%20on%20NGO%20Participation%20in%20t he%20UN%20System3%20\_CONGO\_.pdf.
- Dingwerth, Klaus, *Private Transnational Governance* and the Developing World: A Comparative Perspective, 52 Int'l Stud. Q. 607 (2008).
- Education for All Fast Track Initiative Board of Directors Meeting, Key Decisions, May 5-6, 2010, http://www.educationfasttrack.org/media/library/Secure/Board\_Documents\_May-2010/Final\_Board\_Key\_Decisions\_Bod-May-2010.pdf.
- Edwards, Michael, Introduction, in Global Citizen Action 1 (Michael Edwards & John Gaventa eds., 2001).
- Esty, Daniel C., Non-Governmental Organizations at the World Trade Organization: Cooperation, Competition, or Exclusion, 1 J. Int'l Econ. L. 123 (1998).
- Florini, Ann, The Coming Democracy: New Rules for Running a New World (2005).
- Florini, Ann M., Lessons Learned, in The Third Force: The Rise of Transnational Civil Society 211 (Ann M. Florini ed., 2000).
- Fox, Jonathan A. & Brown, L. David, *Introduction, in*The Struggle for Accountability: The World Bank,
  NGOs, and Grassroots Movements 1 (Jonathan A.
  Fox & L. David Brown eds., 1998).
- Florini, Ann M., *Transnational Civil Society, in* Global Citizen Action 29 (Michael Edwards & John Gaventa eds., 2001).
- Gaventa, John, *Global Citizen Action: Lessons and Challenges, in Global Citizen Action 275* (Michael Edwards & John Gaventa eds., 2001).

- GAVI Alliance, The GAVI Alliance Board, http://www.gavialliance.org/about/governance/boards/index.php (last visited June 21, 2010).
- Gibbs et al., Christopher, Nongovernmental Organizations in World Bank - Supported Projects: A Review (1999).
- Global Agriculture and Food Security Program (GAFSP), *Governance Document* (adopted May 14, 2010).
- The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, An Evolving Partnership: The Global Fund and Civil Society in the Fight Against Aids, Tuberculosis and Malaria, http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/publications/other/evolvingpartnership/.
- Grigorescu, Alexandru, *Transparency of International Organizations: The Roles of Member States, International Bureaucracies and Nongovernmental Organizations*, 51 Int'l Stud. Q. 625 (2007).
- Helfer, Laurence R., Understanding Change in International Organizations: Globalization and Innovation in the ILO, 59 Vand. L. Rev. 649 (2006).
- The International Center for Research on Women, *Civil Society Participation in Global Fund Governance:*What Difference Does it Make: Preliminary
  Reseach Findings, June, 2004, http://www.the-globalfund.org/documents/library/studies/position\_papers/PP\_PS2\_full.pdf.
- Iriye, Akria, Global Community: The Role of International Organizations in the Making of the Contemporary World (2002).

- Isham, Jonathan, Narayan, Deepa & Pritchett, Lant,
  Does Participation Improve Performance?
  Establishing Causality with Subjective Data, 9
  World Bank Econ. Rev. 175 (1995).
- Keohane, Robert O., *Global Governance and Democratic Accountability*, *in* Taming Globalization: Frontiers of Governance (David Held & Mathias Koenig-Archibugi eds., 2003).
- Keohane, Robert O. & Joseph S. Nye, Jr., Between Centralization and Fragmentation: The Club Model of Multilateral Cooperation and Problems of Democratic Legitimacy ( John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, Working Paper No. 01-004, 2001), available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=262175.
- Kissling, Claudia, The Evolution of CSO's Legal Status in International Governance and Its Relevance for the Legitimacy of International Organizations, in Civil Society Participation in European and Global Governance: A Cure for the Democratic Deficit? 30 (Jens Steffek et al. eds., 2008).
- Lipschutz, Ronnie D. & Fogel, Cathleen, "Regulation for the Rest of Us?" Global Civil Society and the Privitization of Transnational Regulation, in The Emergence of Private Authority in Global Governance 115 (Rodney Bruce Hall & Thomas J. Biersteker ed., 2002).
- Martens, Kerstin, *The Role of NGOs in the UNESCO System*, 2 Transnational Associations 68 (1999), available at http://parallel-3.uia.be/node/177.
- Milman-Sivan, Faina, The Virtuous Cycyle: A New Paradigm for Democratizing Global Governance Through Deliberation, 30 Comp. Lab. L. & Pol'y J. 801 (2009).

- Nanz, Patrizia & Steffek, Jens, Deliberation and Democracy in Global Governance: The Role of Civil Society, in Participation for Sustainability in Trade 61 (Sophie Thoyer & Benoît Martimort-Asso eds., 2007).
- Ottaway, Marina, Corporatism Goes Global: International Organizations, Nongovernmental Organization Networks, and Transnational Business, 7 Global Governance 265 (2001).
- Paul, James A., *NGO access at the UN*, Global Policy Forum, July, 1999, http://www.globalpolicy.org/component/content/article/177/31722.html.
- Raustiala, Kal *The "Participatory Revolution" in International Environmental Law*, 21 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 537 (1997).
- Raustiala, Kal, States, NGOs, and International Environmental Institutions, 41 Int'l Stud. Q. 719 (1997).
- Pedro Rosselló, *Historical Note*, http://www.ibe. unesco.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/Publications/ Institutional\_Docs/Rossello\_historical\_note\_ en.pdf (last visited Aug. 6, 2010).
- Schlemmer-Schulte, Sabine, The Impact of Civil Society on the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the World Trade Organization: The Case of the World Bank, 7 ILSA J.Int'l & Comp. L. 399, 411 n.50 (2001).
- Shihata. Ibrahim F. I., The World Bank and Non-Governmental Organizations, 25 Cornell Int'l L.J. 623 (1992).
- The Stanley Foundation, The United Nations and Civil Society: The Role of NGOs, Report of the Thirtieth United Nations Issue Conference (1999).

- Steffek, Jens & Nanz, Patrizia, Emergent Patterns of Civil Society Participation in Global and European Governance, in Civil Society Participation in European and Global Governance: A Cure for the Democratic Deficit? 1,(Jens Steffek et al. eds., 2008).
- Thomann, Lars, The ILO, Tripartism, and NGOs: Do Too Many Cooks Really Spoil the Broth?, in Civil Society Participation in European and Global Governance: A Cure for the Democratic Deficit? 71 (Jens Steffek et al. eds., 2008).

Treaty of Versailles, Part XIII, art. 389, June 28, 1919.

U.N. Charter art. 71.

UNESCO Const., art. XI, § 4.

- Udall, Lori, *The World Bank and Public Accountability:*Has Anything Changed?, in The Struggle for Accountability: The World Bank, NGOs, and Grassroots Movements 391 (Jonathan A. Fox and L. David Brown eds., 1998).
- Willetts, Peter, From "Consultative Arrangements" to "Partnership": The Changing Status of NGOS in Diplomacy at the UN, 6 Global Governance 191 (2000).
- Willetts, Peter, The Rules of the Game: The United Nations and Civil Society, in Whose World is it Anyway?: Civil Society, the United Nations, and

- the Multilateral Future 247 (John W. Foster with Anita Anand eds. 1999).
- Wilson, President Woodrow, Address at Pueblo, CO (Sept. 25, 1919).
- Wolf, Klaus Dieter, *Private Actors and the Legitimacy* of Governance Beyond the State: Conceptional Outlines and Empirical Explorations, http://www.politikwissenschaft.tu-darmstadt.de/fileadmin/pg/media/papers/civil.pdf (last visited Aug. 11, 2010).
- Woods, Ngaire, The Globalizers: The IMF, the World Bank, and Their Borrowers (2006).
- World AIDS Campaign, Call for Nominations for Members of the Global Fund Communities Delegation 2011 Through 2013, May 10, 2010, http://www.worldaidscampaign.org/en/Call-fornominations-for-Members-of-the-Global-Fund-Communities-Delegation-2011-through-2013.
- The World Bank, Assessing Aid: What Works, What Doesn't, and Why (1998).
- The World Bank, Issues and Options for Improving Engagement Between the World Bank and Civil Society Organizations (2005).
- The World Bank, World Bank- Civil Society Engagement: Review of Fiscal Years 2002-2004 (2005).

### **ENDNOTES**

- Kenneth Anderson & David Rieff, 'Global Civil Society': A Sceptical View, in Global Civil Society 2004/5 26, 36 (Helmut Anheier et al. eds, 2005).
- Kenneth Anderson, Global Governance: The Problematic Legitimacy Relationship between Global Civil Society and the United Nations 3 (American University, WCL Research Paper Series, Paper No. 2008-71, 2008), available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1265839.
- 3. Marina Ottaway, Corporatism Goes Global: International Organizations, Nongovernmental Organization Networks, and Transnational Business, 7 Global Governance 265, 267 (2001).
- Kal Raustiala, The "Participatory Revolution" in International Environmental Law, 21 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 537, 558 (1997).
- 5. The World Bank, Assessing Aid: What Works, What Doesn't, and Why 3 (1998).
- Steve Charnovitz, The Emergence of Democratic Participation in Global Governance, 10 Ind. J. Global Legal Stud. 45, 47 (2003).
- 7. Steve Charnovitz, Two Centuries of Participation: NGOs and International Governance, 18 Mich. J.Int'l L. 183, 251 (1997).
- 8. President Woodrow Wilson, Address at Pueblo, CO (Sept. 25, 1919).
- 9. Charnovitz, supra note 7, at 74.
- Laurence R. Helfer, Understanding Change in International Organizations: Globalization and Innovation in the ILO, 59 Vand. L. Rev. 649, 722 (2006).
- 11. *Id.* at 651.
- 12. Treaty of Versailles, Part XIII, art. 389, June 28, 1919.
- 13. Charnovitz, supra note 8, at 217.

- Pedro Rosselló, Historical Note, at xv, http://www. ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/Publications/Institutional\_Docs/Rossello\_historical\_ note\_en.pdf (last visited Aug. 6, 2010).
- 15. Claudia Kissling, The Evolution of CSO's Legal Status in International Governance and Its Relevance for the Legitimacy of International Organizations, in Civil Society Participation in European and Global Governance: A Cure for the Democratic Deficit? 30, 47-48 (Jens Steffek et al. eds., 2008).
- Kerstin Martens, The Role of NGOs in the UNESCO System, 2 Transnational Associations 68 (1999), available at http://parallel-3.uia.be/node/177.
- 17. Akria Iriye, Global Community: The Role of International Organizations in the Making of the Contemporary World 43-44 (2002).
- 18. 1UNESCO Const., art. XI, § 4.
- 19. Iriye, supra note 18, at 43.
- Chadwick Alger, The Emerging Roles of NGOs in the UN System: From Article 71 to a People's Millennium Assembly, 8 Global Governance 93, 93 (2002).
- 21. U.N. Charter art. 71.
- 22. Charnovitz, *supra* note 8, at 252 (quoting E.S.C. Res. 1/4, Feb. 16, 1946, at para. 8).
- 23. Peter Willetts, From "Consultative Arrangements" to "Partnership": The Changing Status of NGOS in Diplomacy at the UN, 6 Global Governance 191, 191 (2000) (quoting ECOSOC Resolution 288B (X), ¶ 12, Feb. 27, 1950).
- 24. Ngaire Woods, The Globalizers: The IMF, the World Bank, and Their Borrowers 22-23 (2006).
- 25. Ann Florini, The Coming Democracy: New Rules for Running a New World 202 (2005).
- 26. Ibrahim F. I. Shihata, *The World Bank and Non-Governmental Organizations*, 25 Cornell Int'l L.J. 623, 624-26 (1992).

- 27. See generally Jane G. Covey, Is Critical Cooperation Possible? Influencing the World Bank through Operational Collaboration and Policy Dialogue, in The Struggle for Accountability: The World Bank, NGOs, and Grassroots Movements 81 (Jonathan A. Fox and L. David Brown eds., 1998).
- 28. Lori Udall, *The World Bank and Public Accountability: Has Anything Changed?*, in The Struggle for Accountability: The World Bank, NGOs, and Grassroots Movements 391, 402 (Jonathan A. Fox and L. David Brown eds., 1998).
- 29. Jonathan A. Fox & L. David Brown, *Introduction, in*The Struggle for Accountability: The World Bank,
  NGOs, and Grassroots Movements 1, 8 (Jonathan
  A. Fox & L. David Brown eds., 1998).
- 30. Woods, supra note 25, at 28.
- 31. The World Bank, Issues and Options for Improving Engagement Between the World Bank and Civil Society Organizations 6 (2005).
- 32. Woods, supra note 25, at 170.
- 33. Gabriel Casaburi et al., Multilateral Development Banks, Governments, and Civil Society: Chiaroscuros in a Triangular Relationship, 6 Global Governance 493, 503 (2000).
- 34. Alger, supra note 21, at 95.
- 35. Peter Willetts, *The Rules of the Game: The United Nations and Civil Society, in* Whose World is it Anyway?: Civil Society, the United Nations, and the Multilateral Future 247, 273 (John W. Foster with Anita Anand eds. 1999).
- 36. Willetts, supra note 24, at 193.
- 37. Ann M. Florini, *Lessons Learned*, *in* The Third Force: The Rise of Transnational Civil Society 211, 215 (Ann M. Florini ed., 2000).
- 38. Willetts, supra note 24, at 193.
- 39. Barbara Adams, ECOSOC AND NGOs: A Review of the Review, in Civil Society Engaging Multilateral Institutions: At the Crossroads 8, 11 (1999), avail-

- able at http://www.fimcivilsociety.org/en/library/FIMForum1999.pdf.
- 40. The Stanley Foundation, The United Nations and Civil Society: The Role of NGOs, Report of the Thirtieth United Nations Issue Conference 7 (1999).
- 41. Id. at 18.
- 42. James A. Paul, *NGO access at the UN*, Global Policy Forum, July, 1999, http://www.globalpolicy.org/component/content/article/177/31722.html.
- 43. Conference of NGOs in Consultative Relationship with the United Nations, NGO Participation Arrangements at the UN and in other agencies of the UN System, Mar. 2006, http://www.itu.int/council/groups/stakeholders/Resources/NonPaper%20on%20NGO%20Participation%20in%20the%20UN%20System3%20\_CONGO\_.pdf.
- 44. Florini, supra note 38, at 215.
- 45. Conference of NGOs, supra note 43.
- 46. Willetts, *supra* note 24, at 204 (quoting Convention on the Rights of the Child art. 45, Nov. 20, 1989, 1577 U.N.T.S. 3).
- 47. Id. at 206-07.
- 48. GAVI Alliance, The GAVI Alliance Board, http://www.gavialliance.org/about/governance/boards/index.php (last visited June 21, 2010).
- 49. GAVI Alliance, Civil Society Organisations, http://www.gavialliance.org/about/in\_partnership/cso/(last visited Aug. 6, 2010).
- 50. See Sonja Bartsch, *The Global Fund to Fight AIDS*, *Tuberculosis and Malaria*, *in* Global Health Governance and the Fight Against HIV/AIDS 146, 152 (Wolfgang Hein et al. eds., 2007).
- World AIDS Campaign, Call for Nominations for Members of the Global Fund Communities Delegation 2011 Through 2013, May 10, 2010, http://www. worldaidscampaign.org/en/Call-for-nominationsfor-Members-of-the-Global-Fund-Communities-Delegation-2011-through-2013.

- 52. The International Center for Research on Women, Civil Society Participation in Global Fund Governance: What Difference Does it Make: Preliminary Reseach Findings, June, 2004, at 2-3, http://www.theglobalfund.org/documents/library/studies/position\_papers/PP\_PS2\_full.pdf.
- 53. The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, An Evolving Partnership: The Global Fund and Civil Society in the Fight Against Aids, Tuberculosis and Malaria 11, http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/publications/other/evolvingpartnership/.
- 54. Bartsch, supra note 52, at 152-55.
- 55. Kent Buse, Education for All Fast Track Initiative: Review of the Governance and Management Structures, Nov. 2005, at 4, http://www.hlfhealthmdgs. org/HLF4Tunis/Education%20for%20All%20FTI %20materials/EFAFTIGovernanceEvaluation.pdf.
- 56. Education for All Fast Track Initiative Board of Directors Meeting, Key Decisions, May 5-6, 2010, http://www.educationfasttrack.org/media/library/ Secure/Board\_Documents\_May-2010/Final\_ Board\_Key\_Decisions\_Bod-May-2010.pdf.
- 57. Global Agriculture and Food Security Program (GAFSP), *Governance Document* (adopted May 14, 2010).
- 58. Robert O. Keohane & Joseph S. Nye, Jr., Between Centralization and Fragmentation: The Club Model of Multilateral Cooperation and Problems of Democratic Legitimacy 4-6 ( John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, Working Paper No. 01-004, 2001), available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=262175.
- 59. Id. at 25.
- 60. The World Bank, supra note 32, at 20.
- 61. Michael Barnett & Martha Finnemore, Rules for the World: International Organizations in Global Politics 170-72 (2004).

- 62. Lars Thomann, *The ILO, Tripartism, and NGOs: Do Too Many Cooks Really Spoil the Broth?, in* Civil Society Participation in European and Global Governance: A Cure for the Democratic Deficit? 71, 73 (Jens Steffek et al. eds., 2008).
- 63. Id.
- 64. Steve Charnovitz, Accountability of Nongovernmental Organizations in Global Government, in NGO Accountability: Politics, Principles and Innovations 21, 27-28 (Lisa Jordan & Peter van Tuijl eds., 2006).
- 65. Robert O. Keohane, *Global Governance and Democratic Accountability, in* Taming Globalization: Frontiers of Governance 130, 153 (David Held & Mathias Koenig-Archibugi eds., 2003).
- 66. Klaus Dingwerth, *Private Transnational Gover*nance and the Developing World: A Comparative Perspective, 52 Int'l Stud. Q. 607, 625 (2008).
- 67. John Gaventa, *Global Citizen Action: Lessons and Challenges*, *in* Global Citizen Action 275, 279 (Michael Edwards & John Gaventa eds., 2001).
- 68. Klaus Dieter Wolf, Private Actors and the Legitimacy of Governance Beyond the State: Conceptional Outlines and Empirical Explorations, at 12, http://www.politikwissenschaft.tu-darmstadt.de/fileadmin/pg/media/papers/civil.pdf (last visited Aug. 11, 2010).
- 69. Daniel Bodansky, The Legitimacy of International Governance: A Coming Challenge for International al Environmental Law?, 93 Am. J. Int'l L. 596, 613 (1999).
- 70. Id. at 619.
- 71. Alexandru Grigorescu, Transparency of International Organizations: The Roles of Member States, International Bureaucracies and Nongovernmental Organizations, 51 Int'l Stud. Q. 625 (2007).

- Kenneth Anderson, Global Governance: The Problematic Legitimacy Relationship between Global Civil Society and the United Nations 29 (American University, WCL Research Paper Series, Paper No. 2008-71, 2008), available at http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1265839.
- 73. Casaburi et al., supra note 34, at 503.
- 74. Kal Raustiala, States, NGOs, and International Environmental Institutions, 41 Int'l Stud. Q. 719, 720 (1997).
- 75. Kal Raustiala, *The "Participatory Revolution" in International Environmental Law*, 21 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 537, 558 (1997).
- 76. Ottaway, supra note 3, at 277.
- 77. Id. at 267.
- 78. Daniel C Esty, Non-Governmental Organizations at the World Trade Organization: Cooperation, Competition, or Exclusion, 1 J. Int'l Econ. L. 123, 137 (1998).
- 79. Kal Raustiala, *The "Participatory Revolution" in International Environmental Law*, 21 Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 537, 558 (1997).
- 80. Ann M. Florini, *Transnational Civil Society, in* Global Citizen Action 29, 39 (Michael Edwards & John Gaventa eds., 2001).
- 81. Jens Steffek & Patrizia Nanz, Emergent Patterns of Civil Society Participation in Global and European Governance, in Civil Society Participation in European and Global Governance: A Cure for the Democratic Deficit? 1, 3 (Jens Steffek et al. eds., 2008).
- 82. Patrizia Nanz & Jens Steffek, Deliberation and Democracy in Global Governance: The Role of Civil Society, in Participation for Sustainability in Trade 61 (Sophie Thoyer & Benoît Martimort-Asso eds., 2007).

- 83. Christopher Gibbs et al., Nongovernmental Organziations in World Bank Supported Projects: A Review 32 (1999).
- 84. The World Bank, supra note 32, at 6.
- 85. The World Bank Civil Society Engagement: Review of Fiscal Years 2002-2004 53 (2005).
- 86. Sabine Schlemmer-Schulte, The Impact of Civil Society on the World Bank, the International Monetary Fund and the World Trade Organization: The Case of the World Bank, 7 ILSA J.Int'l & Comp. L. 399, 411 n.50 (2001).
- 87. The World Bank, Assessing Aid: What Works, What Doesn't, and Why 3 (1998).
- 88. Jonathan Isham, Deepa Narayan & Lant Pritchett, Does Participatioin Improve Performance? Establishing Causality with Subjective Data, 9 World Bank Econ. Rev. 175, 178, 185-86 (1995).
- 89. Id. at 5.
- 90. Fox & Brown, *supra* note 30, at 11 (quoting Ernst B. Haas, When Knowledge is Power: Three Models of Change in International Organizations 37 (1990)).



## BROOKINGS

1775 Massachusetts Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 202-797-6000 www.brookings.edu/global

